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UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C.

In the Matter of

CERTAIN LASER BAR CODE Investigation No. 337-TA-351
SCANNERS AND SCAN ENGINES,
COMPONENTS THEREOF, AND

PRODUCTS CONTAINING SAME

NOTICE OF RESCISSION OF LIMITED EXCLUSION ORDER
AND CEASE-AND-DESIST ORDER

AGENCY: U.S. International Trade Commission.

ACTION: Notice.

SUMMARY: Notice is hereby given that the U.S. International Trade Commission has
determined to rescind the Limited Exclusion Order and Cease and Desist Order issued in the

above-captioned case.

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT: Paul M. Bartkowski, Esq., Office of the
General Counsel, U.S. International Trade Commission, 500 E Street, S.W., Washington, D.C.
20436, telephone (202) 708-5432. Copies of non-confidential documents filed in connection
with this investigation are or will be available for inspection during official business hours (8:45
a.m. to 5:15 p.m.) in the Office of the Secretary, U.S. International Trade Commission, 500 E
Street, S.W., Washington, D.C. 20436, telephone (202) 205-2000. General information
concerning the Commission may also be obtained by accessing its Internet server at
http.//www.usitc.gov. The public record for this investigation may be viewed on the
Commission's electronic docket (EDIS) at http.//edis.usitc.gov. Hearing-impaired persons are
advised that information on this matter can be obtained by contacting the Commission’s TDD
terminal on (202) 205-1810.

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION: This investigation was instituted on October 26,
2005, based on a complaint filed by Symbol Technologies Inc. (“Symbol”) of Holtsville, New
York. The complaint, as amended, alleged violations of section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930
(19 U.S.C. § 1337) in the importation into the United States, the sale for importation, and the
sale within the United States after importation of certain laser bar code scanners or scan engines,
components thereof, or products containing the same, by reason of infringement of various
claims of United States Patent Nos. 5,457,308; 5,545,889; 6,220,514; 5,262,627 (“the ‘627



patent”); and 5,917,173 (“the ‘173 patent”). The complaint named two respondents: Metro
Technologies Co., Ltd. of Suzhou, China, and Metrologic Instruments, Inc. of Blackwood, New
Jersey (collectively, “Metrologic™).

On January 29, 2007, the presiding administrative law judge (ALJ) issued an initial
determination (“ID”) finding a violation of section 337 in the importation of certain laser bar
code scanners and scan engines, components thereof, and products containing the same, in
connection with certain asserted claims. The Commission determined to review certain
determinations made in the ID and, on May 30, 2007, issued a Commission Opinion modifying
the ID in part, which did not affect the ALJ’s findings on validity, infringement, or domestic
industry. The Commission therefore affirmed those findings. Consistent with its determination
of violation, the Commission issued a Limited Exclusion Order and Cease and Desist Order
related to claim 48 of the ‘627 patent and claims 17 and 18 of the ‘173 patent.

On February 7, 2008, Metrologic and Symbol filed a Joint Petition for Rescission of Limited
Exclusion and Cease and Desist Orders under Commission Rule 210.76. The motion provided
that Symbol and Metrologic have entered into a settlement agreement, and that the agreement
constitutes changed circumstances under Rule 210.76 that warrant rescission of the May 30%
orders. The Commission investigative attorney filed a response in support of the joint petition
on February 19, 2008.

- The Commission has reviewed the parties’ submissions and has determined to grant the parties’
request for rescission of the Limited Exclusion Order and Cease and Desist Order.

The authority for the Commission’s determination is contained in section 337 of the Tariff Act of

1930, as amended (19 U.S.C. § 1337), and in section 210.76 of the Commission’s Rules of
Practice and Procedure (19 C.F.R. § 210.76).

By order of the Commission. % o
Marilyn é bbott

Secretary to the Commission

Issued: March 10, 2008



UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C.

In the Matter of

CERTAIN LASER BAR CODE Inv. No. 337-TA-551
SCANNERS AND SCAN ENGINES,
COMPONENTS THEREOF AND
PRODUCTS CONTAINING SAME

ORDER
Upon consideration of the joint petition by Complainant Symbol Technologies, Inc. and
Respondents Metro Technologies Co., Ltd., and Metrclogic Instruments, Inc. to rescind the
Commission’s limited exclusion and cease-and-desist orders, and of the response to this petition
filed by the Commission investigative attorney, the Commission hereby ORDERS THAT:
1. The joint petition for rescission of the limited exclusion order and cease-and-
desist order previously issued in this investigation is granted.
2. The Secretary will serve this Order on the parties to this investigation and the
Secretary of the Treasury, and publish notice thereof in the Federal Register.

By Order of the Commission.

e

MarilylrR. Abbott
Secretary

Issued: March 10,2008



CERTAIN LASER BAR CODE SCANNERS AND SCAN 337-TA-551
ENGINES, COMPONENTS THEREOF, AND PRODUCTS
CONTAINING SAME

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, Marilyn R. Abbott, hereby certify that the attached NOTICE OF RESCISSION OF
LIMITED EXCLUSION ORDER AND CEASE-AND DESIST ORDER has been
served by hand upon the Commission Investigative Attorney, Anne Goalwin, Esq., and
the following parties as indicated, on March 10, 2008

Slsdyy £

Matlyn R/ Abbott, Secretary

U.S. International Trade Commission
500 E Street, SW

Washington, DC 20436

ON BEHALF OF COMPLAINANT SYMBOL
TECHNOLOGIES, INC.:

Robert C. Kahrl, Esq. ( ) Via Hand Delivery
JONES DAY ( ) Via Overnight Mail
North Point («)f% ia First Class Mail
901 Lakeside Avenue ( ) Other:

Cleveland, OH 44114

P-216-586-3939
F-216-586-0212

Steven E. Adkins, Esq. ( ) Via Hand Delivery
Ric Macchiaroli, Esq. ( ) Via Overnight Mail
JONES DAY (JVia First Class Mail
51 Louisiana Avenue, NW ( ) Other:

Washington, DC 20001-2113
P-202-897-3939
F-202-626-1700



Page 2 — Certificate of Service

Eric J. Lobenfeld, Esq.
Ira J. Schaefer, Esq.
HOGAN & HARTSON
875 Third Avenue

New York, NY 10022

ON BEHALF OF RESPONDENTS METROLOGIC

INSTRUMENTS, INC. AND METRO (SUZHOU)

TECHNOLOGIES CO., LTD.:

Philip C. Canelli, Esq.

Robert Greenfeld, Esq.

MCDERMOTT WILL & EMERY LLP
340 Madison Avenue

New York, NY 10017-4613
P-212-547-5400

F-212-547-5444

Mark G. Davis, Esq.

D. Sean Trainor, Esq.

MCDERMOTT WILL & EMERY LLP
600 13™ Street, NW

Washington, DC 20005

P-202-756-8000

F-202-756-8087

( ) Via Hand Delivery
( ) Yia Overnight Mail
(< Via First Class Mail
( ) Other:

( ) Via Hand Delivery
( ) Via Overnight Mail
(Y'Via First Class Mail
( ) Other:

( ) Via Hand Delivery
( ) Via Overnight Mail
(v Via First Class Mail
( ) Other:






UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20436

In the Matter of

CERTAIN LASER BAR CODE Investigation No. 337-TA-551
SCANNERS AND SCAN ENGINES,
COMPONENTS THEREOF, AND
PRODUCTS CONTAINING SAME

NOTICE OF COMMISSION FINAL DETERMINATION OF VIOLATION OF
SECTION 337; TERMINATION OF INVESTIGATION; ISSUANCE OF LIMITED
EXCLUSION ORDER AND CEASE AND DESIST ORDER

AGENCY: U.S. International Trade Commission.

ACTION: Notice.

SUMMARY: Notice is hereby given that the U.S. International Trade Commission has
determined that there is a violation of 19 U.S.C. § 1337 by Metrologic Instruments, Inc. and
Metro (Suzhou) Technologies Co., Ltd. in the above-captioned investigation. The investigation
is terminated.

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT: Paul M. Bartkowski, Esq., Office of the
General Counsel, U.S. Intemational Trade Commission, 500 E Street, S.W., Washington, D.C.
20436, telephone (202) 708-5432. Copies of non-confidential documents filed in connection
with this investigation are or will be available for inspection during official business hours (8:45
am. to 5:15 p.m.) in the Office of the Secretary, U.S. Intemnational Trade Commission, 500 E
Street, S.W., Washington, D.C. 20436, telephone (202) 205-2000. General information
concerning the Commission may also be obtained by accessing its Internet server at
http://www.usitc.gov. The public record for this investigation may be viewed on the
Commission's electronic docket (EDIS) at http.//edis.usitc.gov. Hearing-impaired persons are
advised that information on this matter can be obtained by contacting the Commission’s TDD
terminal on (202) 205-1810.

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION: This investigation was instituted on October 26,
2005, based on a complaint filed by Symbol Technologies Inc. (“Symbol””) of Holtsville, New
York. The complaint, as amended, alleged violations of section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930 (19
U.S.C. § 1337) in the importation into the United States, the sale for importation, and the sale
within the United States after importation of certain laser bar code scanners or scan engines,
components thereof, or products containing the same, by reason of infringement of various
claims of United States Patent Nos. 5,457,308 (“the ‘308 patent”); 5,545,889 (“the ‘889 patent”);
6,220,514 (“the “514 patent”); 5,262,627 (“the ‘627 patent™); and 5,917,173 (“the ‘173 patent”).



The complaint named two respondents: Metro Technologies Co., Ltd. of Suzhou, China; and
Metrologic Instruments, Inc. of Blackwood, New Jersey (collectively, “Metrologic™).

On January 29, 2007, the ALJ issued an initial determination (“ID”) finding a violation of
Section 337 in the importation of certain laser bar code scanners and scan engines, components
thereof, and products containing the same, in connection with certain asserted claims. The ID
also issued monetary sanctions against Respondents for discovery abuses. Complainant,
Respondents, and the Commission investigative attorney (IA) each filed petitions for review of
the ID on February 8, 2007. They each filed responses to each other’s petitions on February 16,
2007.

On February 21, 2007, the Commission extended the deadline for determining whether to
review the subject ID by fifteen (15) days, to March 30, 2007. On March 30, 2007, the
Commission determined to review the final ID in part. Specifically, the Commission determined
to review: (1) the construction of “single, unitary, flexural component” in the ‘173 patent, and
related issues of infringement, domestic industry, and validity; (2) the construction of “oscillatory
support means” in the ‘627 patent, and related issues of infringement, domestic industry, and
validity; (3) the construction of claims containing the so-called “central area” limitations in the
‘889 patent, and related issues of infringement, domestic industry, and validity; (4) the
construction of the “scan fragment” limitation in the ‘308 patent; and (5) the construction of the
term “plurality” in the ‘308 patent. :

Having examined the record of this investigation, including the ALJ’s final ID, the
Commission has determined to make the following modifications to the claim constructions set
forth in the final ID: (1) the “single, unitary, flexural component” in the ‘173 patent must include
“portions integral with each other;” (2) in the ‘627 patent, the “oscillatory support means” must
oscillate; (3) limitations in the ‘889 patent containing requirements that the folding mirror be
“near” or “adjacent” the central area of the collecting mirror allow for the folding mirror to be
positioned close to, and either in front of or behind, the central area of the collecting mirror, but
not mounted to the collecting mirror outside of the central area.; (4) “scan fragment,” as used in
the ‘308 patent, means “a scan that reads less than all of a bar code symbol and that would have
been discarded before the advent of scan-stitching techniques;” and (5) the term “plurality” in the
‘308 patent means “two or more.” These changes do not affect the AL)’s findings on validity,
infringement, or domestic industry. The Commission therefore affirms those findings, as well as
the finding of a violation of section 337 by Metrologic with regard to certain asserted claims of
the ‘627 and ‘173 patents.



The authority for the Commission’s determination is contained in section 337 of the
Tariff Act of 1930, as amended (19 U.S.C. § 1337), and in section 210.45 of the Commission’s
Rules of Practice and Procedure (19 C.F.R. § 210.45).

By order of the Commission.

Marilyn bott
Secretary to the Commission

Issued: May 30, 2007






UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20436

In the Matter of

CERTAIN LASER BAR CODE
SCANNERS AND SCAN ENGINES, Inv. No. 337-TA-551
COMPONENTS THEREOF AND

PRODUCTS CONTAINING SAME

ORDER TO CEASE AND DESIST

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT Metrologic Instruments, Inc., 90 Coles Road,
Blackwood, New Jersey 08012, cease and desist from conducting any of the following activities
in the United States: importing, selling, marketing, advertising, distributing, offering for sale,
transferring (except for exportation), and soliciting U.S. agents or distributors for, laser bar code
scanners that infringe one or more of claim 48 of U.S. Patent No. 5,262,627 and claims 17 and
18 of U.S. Patent No. 5,917,173, in violation of section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as
amended, 19 U.S.C. § 1337.

I
Definitions

As used in this Order:

(A) “Commission” shall mean the United States International Trade Commission.

(B) “Symbol” or “Complainant” shall mean Symbol Technologies, Inc., One Symbol
Plaza, Holtsville, New York 11742-130.

(C) “Respondent” means Metrologic Instruments, Inc., 90 Coles Road, Blackwood, New
Jersey 08012.

(D) “Person” shall mean an individual, or any non-governmental partnership, firm,



association, corporation, or other legal or business entity other than Respondent or its majority
owned or controlled subsidiaries, successors, or assigns.

(E) “United States” shall mean the fifty States, the District of Columbia, and Puerto
Rico.

(F) The terms “import” and “importation” refer to importation for entry for consumption
under the Customs laws of the United States.

(G) The term “covered products” shall mean laser bar code scanners that infringe one or
more of claim 48 of U.S. Patent No. 5,262,627 and claims 17 and 18 of U.S. Patent No.

5,917,173.

II.
Applicability
The provisions of this Cease and Desist Order shall apply to Respondent and to any of its
principals, stockholders, officers, directors, employees, agents, licensees, distributors, controlled
(whether by stock ownership or otherwise) and majority-owned business entities, successors, and
assigns, and to each of them, insofar as they are engaging in conduct prohibited by Section I1I,
infra, for, with, or otherwise on behalf of Respondent.
III.
Conduct Prohibited
The following conduct of Respondent in the United States is prohibited by the Order. For
the remaining term of the respective patents, Respondent shall not:

(A) import or sell for importation into the United States covered products;



(B) market, distribute, offer for sale, sell, or otherwise transfer (except for exportation), in
the United States imported covered products;

(C) advertise imported covered products;

(D) solicit U.S. agents or distributors for imported covered products; or

(E) aid or abet other entities in the importation, sale for importation, sale after
importation, transfer, or distribution of covered products.

Iv.
Conduct Permitted

Notwithstanding any other provisioﬁ of this Order, specific conduct otherwise prohibited
by the terms of this Order shall be permitted if, in a written instrument, the owner of U.S. Patent
Nos. 5,262,627 and 5,917,173 licenses or authorizes such specific conduct, or such specific
conduct is related to the importation or sale of covered products by or for the United States.

V.
Reporting

For purposes of this reporting requirement, the reporting periods shall commence on July
1 of each year and shall end on the subsequent June 30. However, the first report required under
this section shall cover the period from the date of issuance of this Order through June 30, 2008.
This reporting requirement shall continue in force until such time as Respondent will have
truthfully reported, in two consecutive timely filed reports, that it has no inventory of covered
products in the United States.

Within thirty (30) days of the last day of the reporting period, Respondent shall report to

the Commission the quantity in units and the value in dollars of covered products that



Respondent have imported or sold in the United States after importation during the reporting
period and the quantity in units and value in dollars of reported covered products that remain in
inventory in the United States at the end of the reporting period.

Any failure to make the required report or the filing of any false or inaccurate report shall
constitute a violation of this Order, and the submission of a false or inaccurate report may be
referred to the U.S. Department of Justice as a possible criminal violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1001.

VI
Record-keeping and Inspection

(A) For the purpose of securing compliance with this Order, Respondent shall retain any
and all records relating to the sale, offer for sale, marketing, or distribution in the United States
of covered products, made and received in the usual and ordinary course of business, whether in
detail or in summary form, for a period of three (3) years from the close of the fiscal year to
which they pertain.

(B) For the purpose of determining or securing compliance with this Order and for no
other purpose, and subject to any privilege recognized by the federal courts of the United States,
duly authorized representatives of the Commission, upon reasonable written notice by the
Commission or its staff, shall be permitted access and the right to inspect and copy in
Respondent’s principal offices during office hours, and in the presence of counsel or other
representatives if Respondent so choose, all books, ledgers, accounts, correspondence,
memoranda, and other records and documents, both in detail and in summary form as are

required to be retained by subparagraph VI(A) of this Order.



VIL
Service of Cease and Desist Order

Respondent is ordered and directed to:

(A)  Serve, within fifteen (15) days after the effective date of this Order, a copy of this
Order upon each of its respective officers, directors, managing agents, agents, and employees
who have any responsibility for the importation, marketing, distribution, or sale of imported
covered products in the United States;

(B)  Serve, within fifteen (15) days after the succession of any persons referred to in
subparagraph VII(A) of this Order, a copy of the Order upon each successor; and

(C)  Maintain such records as will show the name, title, and address of each person
upon whom the Order has been served, as described in subparagraphs VII(A) and VII(B) of this
Order, together with the date on which service was made.

The obligations set forth in subparagraphs VII(B) and VII(C) shall remain in effect until
the date of expiration of U.S. Patent Nos. 5,262,627 or 5,917,173, whichever is later.

VIIL
Confidentiality

Any request for confidential treatment of information obtained by the Commission
pursuant to Sections V and VI of this Order should be in accordance with Commission Rule
201.6, 19 C.F.R. § 201.6. For all reports for which confidential treatment is sought, Respondent
must provide a public version of such report with confidential information redacted.

IX.

Enforcement



Violation of this Order may result in any of the actions specified in section 210.75 of the
Commission's Rules of Practice and Procedure, 19 C.F.R. § 210.75, including an action for civil
penalties in accordance with section 337(f) of the Tariff Act of 1930, 19 U.S.C. § 1337(f), and
any other action as the Commission may deem appropriate. In determining whether Respondent
is in violation of this Order, the Commission may infer facts adverse to Respondent if
Respondent fails to provide adequate or timely information.

X.
Modification

The Commission may amend this Order on its own motion or in accordance with the
procedure described in section 210.76 of the Commission's Rules of Practice and Procedure, 19
C.F.R. §210.76.

XI.
Bonding

The conduct prohibited by Section III of this Order may be continued during the sixty
(60) day period in which this Order is under review by the United States Trade Representative as
delegated by the President, 70 Fed Reg 43251 (July 21, 2005), subject to Respondent posting a
bond of in the amount of $10 per laser bar code scanner. This bond provision does not apply to
conduct that is otherwise permitted by Section IV of this Order. Covered products imported on
or after the date of issuance of this Order are subject to the entry bond as set forth in the limited
exclusion order issued by the Commission, and are not subject to this bond provision.

The bond is to be posted in accordance with the procedures established by the

Commission for the posting of bonds by complainants in connection with the issuance of



temporary exclusion orders. See Commission Rule 210.68, 19 C.F.R. § 210.68. The bond and
any accompanying documentation is to be provided to and approved by the Commission prior to
the commencement of conduct which is otherwise prohibited by Section III of this Order.

The bond is to be forfeited in the event that the United States Trade Representative
approves, or does not disapprove within the review period, this Order, unless the U.S. Court of
Appeals for the Federal Circuit, in a final judgment, reverses any Commission final
determination and order as to Respondent on appeal, or unless Respondent exports the products
subject to this bond or destroys them and provides certification to that effect satisfactory to the
Commission.

The bond is to be released in the event the United States Trade Representative
disapproves this Order and no subsequent order is issued by the Commission and approved, or
not disapproved, by the United States Trade Representative, upon service on Respondent of an
order issued by the Commission based upon application therefore made by Respondent to the
Commission.

By Order of the Commission.

Secretary tothe Commission

Issued: May 30, 2007






UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20436

In the Matter of

CERTAIN LASER BAR CODE Inv. No. 337-TA-551
SCANNERS AND SCAN ENGINES,
COMPONENTS THEREOF AND
PRODUCTS CONTAINING SAME

LIMITED EXCLUSION ORDER

The Commission has determined that there is a violation of section 337 of the Tariff Act
0f 1930, as amended, 19 U.S.C. § 1337, in the unlawful importation and sale by Respondents
Metrologic Instruments, Inc. of Blackwood, New Jersey and Metro Technologies Co., Ltd. of
Suzhou, China of laser bar code scanners for reading bar code symbols, by reason of
infringement of claim 48 of U.S. Patent No. 5,262,627 and claims 17 and 18 of U.S. Patent No.
5,917,173. Having reviewed the record in this investigation, including the written submissions
of the parties, the Commission has made its determination on the issues of remedy, the public
interest, and bonding. The Commission has determined that the appropriate form of relief is a
limited exclusion order and a cease-and-desist order prohibiting the unlicensed entry of
infringing laser bar code scanners manufactured by or on behalf of Respondents or any of their
affiliated companies, parents, subsidiaries, licensees, or other related business entities, or their
SUCCESSOrS Or assigns.

The Commission has determined that the public interest factors enumerated in 19 U.S.C.
§§ 1337 (d) and (f) do not preclude issuance of the limited exclusion order. Finally, the

Commission has determined that the bond during the Presidential review period shall be in the



amount of $10 per bar code scanner unit.

Accordingly, the Commission herecby ORDERS THAT:

1. Laser bar code scanners for reading bar code symbols covered by one or more of
claim 48 of U.S. Patent No. 5,262,627 and claims 17 and 18 of U.S. Patent No. 5,917,173 that
are manufactured abroad or imported by or on behalf of Metro Technologies Co., Ltd.,
Metrologic Instruments, Inc., or any of their affiliated companies, parents, subsidiaries, or other
related business entities, or their successors or assigns are excluded from entry for consumption
into the United States, entry for consumption from a foreign trade zone, or withdrawal from a
warehouse for consumption, for the remaining term of the patents, except under license of the
patent owner or as provided by law.

2. Notwithstanding paragraph 1 of this Order, the aforesaid products are entitled to
entry for consumption into the United States, entry for consumption from a foreign trade zone, or
withdrawal from a warehouse for consumption, under bond in the amount of $10 per unit for
infringing laser bar code scanners, from the day after this Order is received by the United States
Trade Representative as delegated by the President, 70 Fed. Reg. 43251 (July 21, 2005), until
such time as the United States Trade Representative notifies the Commission that this action is
approved or disapproved but, in any event, not later than sixty (60) days after the date of receipt
of this Order.

3. At the discretion of U.S. Customs and Border Protection ("CBP") and pursuant to
procedures it establishes, persons seeking to import laser bar code scanners that are potentially
subject to this Order may be required to certify that they are familiar with the terms of this Order,

that they have made appropriate inquiry, and thereupon state that, to the best of their knowledge



and belief, the products being imported are not excluded from entry under paragraphs 1 through 7
of this Order. At its discretion, CBP may require persons who have provided the certification
described in this paragraph to furnish such records or analyses as are necessary to substantiate the
certification.

4. In accordance with 19 U.S.C. § 1337(1), the provisions of this Order shall not
apply to laser bar code scanners that are imported by and for the use of the United States, or
imported for, and to be used for, the United States with the authorization or consent of the
Government.

5. The Commission may modify this Order in accordance with the procedures
described in Rule 210.76 of the Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure, 19 C.F.R. §
210.76.

6. The Commission Secretary shall serve copies of this Order upon each party of
record in this investigation and upon the Department of Health and Human Services, the
Department of Justice, the Federal Trade Commission, and CBP.

7. Notice of this Order shall be published in the Federal Register.

By Order of the Commission. _

Issued: May 30, 2007



CERTAIN LASER BAR CODE SCANNERS AND SCAN ENGINES, 337-TA-551
COMPONENTS THEREOF AND PRODUCTS CONTAINING SAME

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I Marilyn R. Abbott, hereby certify that the attached NOTICE OF COMMISSION DETERMINATION
OF VIOLATION OF SECTION 337; TERMINATION OF INVESTIGATION; ISSUANCE OF
LIMITED EXCLUSION ORDER AND CEASE AND DESIST ORDER was served upon the
Commission Investigative Attorney, Kevin Baer, Esq., and all parties via first class mail and air mail where
necessary on May 30, 2007.

U.S. International Trade Commission
500 E Street, SW
Washington, DC 20436

ON BEHALF OF COMPLAINANT
SYMBOL TECHNOLOGIES. INC.:

Robert C. Kahrl, Esq.
JONES DAY

North Point

901 Lakeside Avenue
Cleveland, Ohio 44114
P —-216-586-3939

F —-216-579-0212

Steven E. Adkins

JONES DAY

51 Louisiana Avenue, NW
Washington, DC 20001-2113
P —202-879-3939

F —202-626-1700

Robert O. Lindefjeld

Andrew J. Kozusko, III

Jerome J. Kalina

JONES DAY

500 Grant Street, 31* Fllor
Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 15219
P -412-391-3939

F —412-394-7959

Eric J. Lobenfeld, Esq.
Ira J. Schaefer, Esq.
HOGAN & HARTSON
875 Third Avenue

New York, NY 10022

ON BEHALF OF RESPONDENTS
METROLOGIC INSTRUMENTS, INC. AND
METRO (SUZHOU) TECHNOLOGIES CO.

Robert Greenfeld, Esq.

Philip C. Canelli, Esq.

MCDERMOTT WILL & EMERY LLP
340 Madison Avenue

New York, NY 10017

P - 212- 547-5400

F - 212- 547-5444

Mark G. Davis, Esq.

D. Sean Trainor, Esq.

MCDERMOTT WILL & EMERY LLP
600 — 13™ Street, NW

Washington, DC 20005

P-202-756-8000

F- 202-756-8087



PUBLIC VERSION

UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C.

In the Matter of

CERTAIN LASER BAR CODE
SCANNERS AND SCAN ENGINES, Inv. No. 337-TA-551
COMPONENTS THEREOF AND

PRODUCTS CONTAINING SAME

COMMISSION OPINION

Background

On January 29, 2007, the presiding administrative law judge (“ALJ”) (Judge Bullock)
issued his final initial determination (“ID”) in the above-referenced investigation. The ALJ
found a violation of Section 337 by Respondents Metrologic Instruments, Inc. and Metro
(Suzhou) Technologies Co., Ltd. (collectively “Metrologic”) in the importation into the United
States, the sale for importation, or the sale within the United States after importation of certain
laser bar-code scanners and scan engines, components thereof, and products containing same, in
connection with certain asserted claims of two of Complainant Symbol Technologies, Inc.’s
(“Symbol”) patents, and finding no violation of Section 337 in connection with certain asserted

claims of two other patents.

! The final ID also granted Symbol’s motion for discovery sanctions, which alleged that
Metrologic failed to comply with its discovery obligations by refusing to provide source code for
two accused products, the OptimusS and OptimusSBT, and by falsely representing that such
source code was not within its possession, custody, and/or control. The ALJ imposed monetary
sanctions against Metrologic for recovery of Symbol’s reasonable attomeys’ fees and costs
associated with the filing of Symbol’s motion to compel the source code, motion for sanctions,
and its reasonable attomneys’ fees and costs associated with meeting and conferring with



Specifically, the ID found a violation of Section 337 by Metrologic’s bar-code scanners
and scan engines in connection with claim 48 of the ‘627 patent and claims 17 and 18 of the ‘173
patent. The ID found no violation of Section 337 in connection with claims 7, 8, 11, 13, 14, 17,
and 18 of the ‘889 patent and no violation of Section 337 in connection with claims 2, 10, 11,
and 21 of the ‘308 patent. Further, the ID found that a domestic industry in the United States
exists that practices the ‘627 and ‘173 patents, but found that no domestic industry exists as to
the ‘889 or ‘308 patents because Symbol did not show that it practices those patents.

Symbol, Metrologic, and the Commission investigative attorney (“IA”) each filed
petitions for review of the ID. Symbol requested review and reversal of the ALJ’s findings of no
violation with respect to the ‘889 and ‘309 patents. The IA petitioned for review of the ALJ’s
(1) finding that claim 17 of the ‘889 patent is indefinite, and (2) claim construction of the ‘308
patent. Metrologic sought review regarding the ALJ’s imposition of discovery sanctions, and
regarding findings and determinations made by the ALJ with respect to each of the ‘173, “627 ,
‘889, and ‘308 patents.

On March 30, 2007, thé Commission detennined to review the final ID in pan and to
deny Metrologic’s motion to stay the ALJ’s order of sanctions. The Commission determined to
revieW: (1) the construction of “single, unitary, flexural component” in the ‘173 patent, and
related issues of infringement, domestic industry, and validity; (2) the construction of “oscillatory
support means” in the ‘627 patent, and related issues of infringement, domestic industry, and

validity; (3) the construction of claims containing the so-called “central area” limitations in the

Metrologic in connection therewith, along with the reverse-engineering fees incurred due to
Metrologic’s alleged failure to comply with its discovery obligations. The Commission denied
Metrologic’s request for a stay of the sanction order.
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‘889 patent, and related issues of infringement, domestic industry, and validity; (4) the
construction of the “scan fragment” limitation in the ‘308 patent; and (5) the construction of the

term “plurality” in the ‘308 patent. In its notice of review, the Commission asked the parties to

address the following questions:
Regarding the ‘173 patent:

(1) What is the effect of Symbol’s statement in the prosecution
history that “[c]laim 70 [issued claim 17] also contains the feature
of allowable claim 58 on a proper claim construction?

(2) If Symbol’s statement limited the scope of the claim, what is
the effect on claim construction, infringement, domestic industry,
and validity issues as they relate to the ‘173 patent?

(3) If Symbol's statement limits the scope of the claim by providing
that the component have “spring portions integral with each other,”
what would be the effect, if any, on the analysis? In other words, if
a flexural component is “single,” and “unitary,” does it necessarily
have “spring portions integral with each other”?

Regarding the ‘627 patent:

(1) How should the modifier “oscillatory” be construed in the
limitation “oscillatory support means™?

(2) How does the construction of the word “oscillatory” affect
infringement, domestic industry, and validity as those issues relate
to the ‘627 patent?

Regarding the ‘889 patent:

(1) What effect does Symbol’s statements during prosecution
history such that the smaller mirror is “centrally positioned” with
respect to the larger mirror have on claim construction?

(2) If such statements limit claim scope, what effect does that
limitation have on claim construction, infringement, domestic
industry, and validity as those issues relate to the ‘889 patent?



Symbol, Metrologic, and the IA each filed written submissions regarding the issues on
review, as well as on remedy, bonding, and the public interest. For the reasons discussed below,
the Commission hereby makes certain modifications to the constructions of claims under review.
As discussed in greater detail .below, the Commission’s modifications have no impact on the
ALJ’s findings of violation of Section 337. The Commission’s determinations regarding the
appropriate remedy, whether the public interest precludes that remedy, and what bond should be
set during the period of Presidential review are also set forth below.

Construction of ‘“single, unitary, flexural component” in the ‘173 patent

As evidenced by its request for briefing, the Commission’s review of the construction of
this limitation focused on the patent applicants’ statement during patent prosecution that “[c]laim
70 [issued claim 17] also contains the feature of allowable claim 58.” The Commission
requested that the parties provide briefing on the effect, if any, of the statement on a proper
construction of “single, unitary, ﬂexﬁral component.”

Symbol and the IA, in their written submissions, argue that the statement does not limit

4 the claim’s scope because it is ambiguous what the épplicants meant by “the féature of allowable
claim 58.” Application claim 58, to which the applicants were referring, reads, “[t}he
arrangement according to claim 52, wherein the spring portions are integral with each other.”?
Symbol contends that the most plausible interpretation is that the applicants were referring to was
the use of a single spring, and not to integral spring portions. Similarly, the IA argues that if the
statement limits claim scope at all, it merely requires that the element be singular.

Symbol also argues that construing “single, unitary, flexural component” to require the

? JX-12, MITC-101967.



element to have spring portions integral with each other would violate the doctrine of claim
differentiation. The doctrine of claim differentiation presumes that different words or phrases
used in separate claims indicate that the claims have different meanings and scope.’> Symbol
argues that the doctrine supports the ALJ’s construction because claim 21, which depends from
three claims (18, 19, and 20), each of which depend from, and add limitations to, independent

claim 17, requires a spring having “flexible, taut, spring portions integral with each other.”

Metrologic argues that the applicants’ statement supports its construction of “single,
unitary, flexural component” as a “single, one-piéce bent spring with flexible, taut spring
portions that are integral with each other.” Metrologic next argues that its products do not
infringe under a “proper construction,” which limits claim 17 to a “bent spring with integral
spring portions.”

Alternatively, Metrologic argues that its device does not have integral spring portions
because a flat leaf spring such as the one in its device does not have portions. Metrologic asserts
that the “portions” of the flexure must be delineated by a bend in the structure, by being fixed at
both ends and bent around an axis. Metrologic argues that its [ ] element is not bent
or taut in its resting position, and points to the ALJ’s statement that, “in its resting state, the leaf

spring is straight with no integral spring portions.”™

The Commission concludes that the applicants’ statement that “[c]laim 70 [issued claim

17] also contains the feature of allowable claim 58” is not ambiguous, as Symbol argues. Rather,

3 See Andersen Corp. v. Fiber Composites, LLC, 474 F.3d 1361, 1369 (Fed. Cir. 2007).

4 ID at 56.



the statement makes clear that the inventors either: (1) intended to limit the claim to explicitly
include the single feature of claim 58 — spring portions integral with each other; or (2)
understood the limitation “single, unitary flexural component” to necessarily include “spring
portioné integral with each other.” Under either interpretation, the statement makes clear that
the claim includes the limitation, or feature, of claim 58, i.e., that the “spring portions are

integral with each other.”

The parties’ respective arguments seem to misread the applicants’ statement made during
the prosecution history. Symbol’s argument that the statement is ambiguous would be plausible
if claim 58 listed more than one feature. But, as Symbol pointed out in its post-hearing briefs,
claim 58 contains just one feature — integral spring portions. Metrologic’s argument that the
statement requires that “single, unitary, flexural component” be interpreted to include all of claim
58's features, including those on which claim 58 depended, is contradicted by the inventors’
statement that the claim includes the singular feature of claim 58. Finally, the IA’s argument that
the statement meant only that the claim includes a single spring would be more plausible if the
statement read that the claim “contains the allowable feature of claim 58.;’ But it does not;
rather, it makes clear that issued claim 17 includes the single feature of claim 58 — integral spring
portions.

We also find unavailing Symbol’s argument that the doctrine of claim differentiation
prevents the limitation “single, unitary flexural component” from covering integral spring

portions. Claim 21 does not merely add the limitation “portions integral with each other.”

3 See JX-12 at MITC0191967, MITC0191989.
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Rather, claim 21 depends from three claims (18, 19, and 20), each of which depend from, and
add limitations to, claim 17. Moreover, claim 21 requires that the spring have “flexible, taut,
spring portions integral with each other.” The additional requirements that the portions be
flexible and taut, in addition to the limitations added by claims 18, 19, and 20, sufficiently
differentiate the two claims, and therefore render the doctrine of claim differentiation
inapplicable to the analysis.

We therefore modify the ALJ’s construction of the “single, unitary, flexural component”
to include “portions integral with each other.” This modification does not change any of the
ALJ’s ultimate findings as to infringement, domestic industry, and validity. As pointed out by
Symbol and the IA, the record demonstrates that Metrologic’s devices’ springs have three
separate portions: two that are fixed and a third portion that flexes during operation.® The parties
do not contend that the ALJ’s domestic industry or validity findings would be different under the

modified construction.
Construction of “oscillatory support means” in the ‘627 patent

Finding merit in Metrologic’s arguments that the ALJ’s construction of “oscillatory
support means” effectively read the word “oscillatory” out of the claim, the Commission

reviewed the ALJ’s construction to determine the effect of the word “oscillatory” in the
limitation.

In its written submission, Symbol argues that the term “oscillatory” in “oscillatory

6 See, e.g., Allais Tr. 398:20-24; 446:20-447:2.
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7 According to Symbol, because the word “oscillatory”

support means” is merely “descriptive.
occurs before the word “means” in the claim, the term merely serves to distinguish the

“oscillatory support means” from the other “means” in the claim.

Symbol contends that the ALJ did not ignore or “read out” the word “oscillatory” because
the ALJ “correctly concluded that the phrase ‘for oscillating movement about an axis’ modifies
‘component’ (i.e., scan mirror) such that it is the scanning mirror that oscillates.” Symbol’s reply
submission notes that the claim expressly states that the “drive means” causes oscillating

movement in claim 48.

Symbol, however, states that, “to the extent the term ‘oscillatory’ requires construction,
the support means is ‘oscillatory’ because — as the ALJ recognized — ‘a means that prevents the
scan mirror from oscillating will not meet the claim limitation.””® In any event, Symbol’s reply

submission states that Metrologic’s products meet any limitation that the means must “oscillate.”

The IA argues that the ALJ correctly construed “oscillatory support means” in the ‘627
patent. The IA argues that the claimed function is “mounting a component of the emitting and.
optics means.” The IA, however, asserts that the “oscillatory support means” is distinct from a
“stationary support means” in that the “oscillatory support means” moves. The IA notes,
however, requiring that the support oscillates does not require that the support be the mechanism

that causes the oscillation.

Metrologic argues that the ALJ erred and that the term “oscillatory” requires the means to

7 CSat17.

8 See ID at 20.



provide oscillating movement about an axis. Although its arguments regarding the functions of
the claim vary somewhat, Metrologic essentially argues that the functions associated with the
limitation are: (1) for oscillating about an axis and (2) for supporting the scan mirror; Metrologic
argues that the specification supports its construction because “[e]very reference to the
‘oscillatory support means’ describes the functions and corresponding structure of a means for

supporting and providing for oscillating movement to the scan mirror.”

Based upon its proposed construction, Metrologic argues that none of the accused
products infringe claim 48 of the ‘627 patent. Metrologic asserts that the “copper shim” in the
accused products does not “define, ” “provide for,” or “participate in” the oscillation, but rather

is just “along for the ride.”

In our view, the ALJ’s syntactical analysis of the means-plus-function language amply
demonstrates why the phrase “for oscillating movement about an axis” does not add an additional
function to the limitation. Therefore, for the reasons given by the ALJ, the Commission rejects

Metrologic’s arguments to the contrary.

But the Commission agrees with the IA that the modifier “oscillatory” requires that the
support must oscillate. This construction appears consistent with Symbol’s argument that the
terms “oscillatory” and “support” are merely descriptive. In effect, Symbol argues that the
descriptive terms are not part of the means-plus-function limitation, “means for mounting a
component of the emitting and optics means for oscillating movement about an axis.” Whether
“oscillatory” adds the function of oscillating to “oscillatory support means” or merely requires

that the “means for mounting a component of the emitting and optics means for oscillating



movement about an axis” must jtself oscillate is of no moment. Under either interpretation, the

means must oscillate.

The Commission therefore modifies the ALJ’s construction to require the “oscillatory
support means” to oscillate. This modification does not change the ALJ’s conclusion that
Metrologic’s “copper shim” meets the “oscillatory support means” limitation because the
shim—found by the ALJ to meet the limitation—does oscillate.’ Furthermore, the parties agree
that the proposed modification has no effect on the ALJ’s domestic industry or validity findings.

Construction of the ‘“‘central area” limitations in the ‘889 patent

The Commission determined to review the ALJ’s construction of claims containing the
so-called “central area” limitations in the ‘889 patent. The Commission requested briefing
regarding the patent applicants’ statements that the smaller folding mirror was “centrally

positioned” with respect to the larger collecting mirror.

Metrologic, in its written submission, argues that the ALJ’s construction was erroneous
because he replaced subjective terms such as “near” and “central area” with even more subjective
terms like “close to a region” and “near the center.”'® Metrologic asserts that the proper
construction requires at least some portion of the folding mirror to overlap the center of the -

collecting mirror.

In responding to the Commission’s questions regarding the limitation, Metrologic notes

? See CX-109C at Q.46-48, 140-48; CX-116; CX-118; CX-120; Palmer Tr. 854:2-15 (the
- shim is “along for the ride”).

10 RS at 23.
10



that the parties agree that claims 7 and 13, which contain the limitations that the folding mirror is
“positioned near a central area of the collecting mirror” and “positioned adjacent a central area
[of the collecting mirror]” respectively, require the same construction. Metrologic states that,
when the patentees broadened the claims from requiring the folding mirror to be “at” or “in” the
central area to requiring that it be “near” the central area, they argued that the claims avoided the
prior art because the “folding mirror is centrally positioned with respect to” the collecting mirror.
Metrologic further notes that Symbol specifically stated that the use of the term “near”
encompassed a folding mirror fixed to the surface of, positioned in front of, or positioned behind
the collecting mirror. Metrologic argues, therefore, that the use of the term “near” as opposed to
“at” a central area did not affect the requirement that the folding mirror should reside in the
central area of the collecting mirror. Rather, Metrologic argues, the change allowed the claims
flexibility to encompass a folding mirror positioned in front of or behind the collecting mirror.
Metrologic submits that Symbol’s arguments over the prior art confirm this conclusion.
Therefore, Metrologic argues, a skilled artisan, after reviewing the intrinsic evidence, would
define the “central area” limitations to require a folding mirrbr affixed to, in front of, dr behind
the collecting mirror such that some portion of the folding mirror, or a projection thereof,

coincides with the center of the collecting mirror.

Regarding the effect of Symbol’s statements during prosecution on the ALJ’s
infringement findings, Metrologic submits that its original and redesigned products—found not
to infringe claims 7, 8, 11, 13, and 14 because they do not meet the “drive means”
limitation—also do not infringe because no portion of the folding mirror in the original and

redesigned products encompasses or coincides with the center of the collecting mirror.
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Metrologic argues further that its original and redesigned products do not infringe claim
18—which does not contain the “drive means” limitation—because no part of the folding mirror

in those products encompasses the center of the collecting mirror.

Symbol, in its written submission, argues that the ALJ correctly held that a disclaimer had
taken place, and correctly recognized that the inventors had “defined ‘centrally positioned’ by
explaining: ‘the folding mirror is centrally positioned in the concave fixed mirror (rather than
being mounted spaced from and offset with respect to the mirror 98 of Knowles) . ...”
Symbol’s position, therefore, is that its statement limited the claim’s scope, but that the ordinary
meaning of “centrally positioned” should not apply to the disclaimer. Rather, Symbol contends
that the parenthetical comment, “rather than being mounted spaced from and offset with respect
to the [larger] mirror” constituted a “definition” of “centrally positioned.” Symbol asserts that
Metrologic’s argument to construe “centrally positioned” to mean that “at least one point within
the folding mirror coincides with the physical center of the collecting mirror” is contrary to the

way the inventors defined “centrally positioned” in the public record.

Regarding the “central area” limitations, the IA argues that the prosecution history makes
clear that the folding mirror must be in or near the interior of the collecting mirror, and the
folding mirror cannot be positioned along the edge of the collecting mirror. The IA asserts that
this construction is proper because it provides the broadest reasonable interpretation that is

consistent with the claims, specification, and prosecution history.

We reject arguments by Symbol and the IA to reverse the ALJ’s conclusion that claim 17,

which provides that the “folding mirror is mounted near a line intercepting a central area of the

12



collecting mirror,” is invalid. Although we agree that the applicants’ arguments and amendments
during prosecution constitute a disclaimer of subject matter, the disclaimer relates only to what
the claims do not cover. Moreover, as discussed below, the applicants made specific arguments
clarifying claim scope regarding claims that include limitations that the smaller mirror be “near”
the central area of the larger mirror, but made no such arguments concerning the “near a line
intercepting” amendment. Because there is no way to determine where the “line intercepting a
central area” begins or ends, we agree with the ALJ that claim 17 is insolubly ambiguous because
it is impossible to determine what the claims cover. The Commission, however, modifies the
ALJ’s decision regarding claim 17 only to make clear that, if the claim is not indefinite, it reads

on prior art and disclaimed subject matter, and is therefore invalid as anticipated or obvious.

The Commission also modifies the ALJ’s construction of “positioned near a central area
of the collecting mirror” in claims 7, 8, and 11 and “positioned adjacent a central area thereof” in
claims 13 and 14 to give effect to the context in which these limitations were added, and to give
effect to the disclaimer of subject matter that took place with respect to these limitations. The
ALj found, and the parties agreed, that the two limitations should be construed ide;ntically.
Moreover, the amendments to the claims containing these limitations were made at the same

time, and the same argument was made with respect to both limitations.

As discussed in the ID, in response to an obviousness rejection by the patent examiner,

the applicants amended their claims to add new limitations as follows:

claim 7 - “wherein the folding mirror is smaller than and is
mounted in a central area of the collecting mirror.”

claim 14 - “the folding mirror being smaller than the collecting

13



mirror and mounted in a central area thereof”

claim 21 - “wherein the collecting mirror is larger than the folding

mirror and the folding mirror is mounted at a central area of the

collecting mirror”"!

In the Remarks section of their response to the patent examiner’s rejection, the applicants
stated, in pertinent part, that “the claims are distinguished from the primary reference by reciting
[that] . . . (2) the folding mirror is centrally mounted in the concave fixed mirror (rather than
being mounted spaced from and offset with respect to the mirror 98 of Knowles).”'? With
respect to Swartz et al., the applicants noted that the “mirror 66 [is] attached to an edge of the
spherical mirror 76” so that even “assuming the combined mirror 76, 66 of Swartz et al. could be
used in the Knowles structure in place of the mirrors 88 and 98, the claims would still not be met
because . . . the folding mirror is not centrally located.”*® The applicants went on to state that the
pending claims were “distinguishable from the proposed combination by reciting . . . a stationary

collecting mirror having a smaller folding mirror centrally mounted thereon.”'*

In light of the above claim amendments and written remarks, the examiner allowed the
pending claims of the application that became the ‘889 patent.’* The amendments made to these

claims had the effect of narrowing the scope of each of these three claims, and claims depending

1 See TX-7 at SBL-0002210-12.
12 1d. at SBL-00002213.

B Id. at SBL-00002213.

1 Id. (emphasis in original).

15 Id. at SBL-0002215.
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therefrom. Thus, under Festo Corp. v. Shoketsu Kinzoku Kogyo Kabushiki Co.,'® the applicants
are presumed to have surrendered all territory between the original claim limitation and the

amended claim limitation.

But after allowance, as discussed in the ID, the applicants filed a continuation application

amending the pending claims as follows:

claim 7 -“wherein the folding mirror is smaller than and is
[mounted in] positioned near a central area of the collecting
mirror”

claim 14 - “the folding mirror being smaller than the collecting
mirror and [mounted on] positioned adjacent a central area thereof”

claim 21 - “wherein the collecting mirror is larger than the folding
mirror and the folding mirror is mounted [at] near a line

intercepting a central area of the collecting mirror”"’

While there is no guidance on what the “near a line intercepting” limitation was intended to
mean, with respect to the new language requiring the folding mirror to be “near” the central area,

“the applicants stated:

The claims, as amended, differ from the allowed claims in that the folding mirror
is said to be positioned “near” the central area of the curved mirror instead of “at”
the central area; in the disclosed embodiment, the mirror 218 is seen to be slightly
spaced away from the curved mirror and slightly below a centerline. Thus, it is
submitted that the amended claims are more properly descriptive. The mirror 218
could be fixed to the surface of the curved mirror, or positioned in front of it, or
indeed positioned behind it with a hole in the central area for light to pass

16344 F.3d 1359, 1367 (Fed. Cir. 2003).
17 JX-7 at SBL-0002219-20.
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through.'®

Additionally, the applicants stated the claims were allowable because “the folding mirror is
centrally positioned with respect to the concave fixed mirror (rather than being mounted spaced
from and offset with respect to the mirror 98 of Knowles)” and because in the ‘248 patent to

Swartz et al. “the folding mirror is located at a side edge.”"

Given this context, the Commission agrees with Metrologic that the applicants’ remarks
make clear that the use of the term “near” as opposed to “at” a central area do not affect the
requirement that the folding mirror should reside in the central area of the collecting mirror. We
disagree with Symbol that the applicants “defined” the phrase “centrally positioned” to mean
only that “the folding mirror is not “mounted spaced from and offset with respect to” the larger
mirror. Rather, the applicants were merely noting that a mirror that is “centrally positioned” with
respect to the collecting mirror is not mounted spaced from and offset with respect to the
collecting mirror. And as made clear by the applicants, the amended claims allowed for the
folding mirror to be fixed to the surface of the curved mirror, positioned in front of it, or

positioned behind it with a hole in the central area for light to pass through.

The Commission therefore modifies the ALJ’s construction of these limitations to reflect
that the terms “near” and “adjacent” the central area allow for the folding mirror to be positioned
close to, and either in front of or behind, the central area of the collecting mirror, but not

mounted to the collecting mirror outside of the central area. The Commission, however, makes

B
1% Id. at SBL-0002222 (empbhasis in original).
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no change to the ALJ’s construction of “central area,” which he effectively construed to be “the
region located at, in, or near the center of the collecting mirror.””® Based on these modifications,
the Commission rejects Metrologic’s argument that the “central area” limitations require that at
least one point within the folding mirror coincides with the physical center of the collecting

mirror. Metrologic’s proposed limitation is unsupported by the claims or the prosecution history.

The modified construction set forth above affects claims 7, 8, 11, 13, and 14 — claims the
ALJ found not infringed by Metrologic. The revised construction does not impact the ALJ’s
construction of the limitation in claim 18 that the folding mirror must be “disposed in a light path
of a central area thereof.” That claim was not the subject of the narrowing amendments or
clarifying arguments made by the applicants regarding the meaning of “near” and “adjacent” as

used in claims 7, 8, 11, 13, and 14.

Because the ALJ determined that Metrologic’s products do not infringe claims 7, 8, 11,
13, and 14 because they do not meet the “drive means™ limitation, the modified construction of
“near a central area” and “adjacent a central area” has no effect on the ALJ’s findings of no
violation with respect to those claims. The modified construction also does not affect the ALJ’s

conclusions regarding domestic industry or validity.
Construction of ‘“scan fragment” in the ‘308 patent

The Commission also determined to review the ALJ’s construction of “scan fragment.”
The Commission did not ask targeted questions regarding this limitation, but briefing was

allowed under the Commission’s notice, and such briefing was submitted by the parties.

2 See ID at 137,
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In its submissions, Symbol argues that the ALJ erred in construing “scan fragment.”
Symbol first provides general background regarding the term “scan fragments.” In this
background discussion, Symbol states that if a scanner does not read all the bars and spaces of a
bar-code symbol in a single scan, the symbol cannot be decoded unless the missing data can be
acquired on a subsequent scan. Symbol further provides that, if a complete scan of a symbol
does not occur in a single sweep of the laser, this “partial scan” is called a “fragment” or “scan
fragment.” Symbol notes, citing the ‘308 patent, that in the early days of bar-code scanners, such
scan fragments were discarded until scan-stitching techniques were developed. Scan stitching,
according to Symbol, allows such scan fragments to be saved and joined together to complete the
data from a single symbol. Symbol also cites the ‘308 patent’s examples of scan fragments,
noting that “[a]ll these scan fragments share a common characteristic: They do ‘not. .. entirely

cross the bar code symbol,” and therefore ‘[t]hese incomplete scan lines [are] called fragments.””

Symbol next argues that multi-row bar codes are inapposite to construction of the term
“scan fragment” in the ‘308 patent. Symbol states that multi-row bar codes, such as the accused
Stacked RSS symbols, are split into two equa;d halves with the right half underneath the left. |
Symbol contends that the scan-stitching technique described in the ‘308 patent is quite useful for
stitching the two halves of the stacked symbols together. Symbol therefore contends that the ALJ
erred in excluding a line of multi-row code from the term “scan fragment.” Symbol also
contends that the ALJ improperly defined the term in light of the accused multi-line code, and
therefore erred.

Symbol then argues that the ALJ’s error in construing “scan fragment” caused the ALJ to

commit another error by failing to find and address evidence that Metrologic’s accused products

18



infringe the ‘308 patent by decoding and combining partial scans or scan fragments “that would

otherwise be discarded.” Symbol contends that,[

] Symbol, however, does not address whether full scans of the top or bottom

halves of a Stacked RSS bar code would have been discarded before the advent of scan-stitching
techniques.?!

Metrologic argues that the ALJ’s construction of “scan fragment” correctly excluded
scans of rows of multi-row bar-code symbols. Metrologic argues that the ALJ properly consulted
the Background section of the ‘308 patent to identify the problem the ‘308 patent attempted to
solve — that of “incomplete or partial scans that resulted in ‘scan fragments,’ which, according to
the patent, were discarded prior to the development of prior art scan stitching techniques.”
Metrologic asserts that the ALJ recognized that multi-row bar codes existed for several years
before the ‘308 patent was filed, and that scans of rows of those symbols were not discarded, and

thus not “scan fragments” as used in the ‘308 patent. Metrologic therefore argues that the ALJ

21 Symbol also argues, as it did in its petition for review, that the ALJ failed to apply his
claim construction to the evidence that Metrologic’s accused products decode and combine scan
fragments of single-row RSS-14 symbols. Symbol contends that, regardless of whether the
Commission adopts the ALJ’s construction of “scan fragment,” it is entitled to a finding that both
Symbol’s and Respondents’ products decode “scan fragments” in accordance with claims 2, 10,
11, and 21 when decoding RSS-14 single-line symbols. Because the ALJ made no finding
regarding whether Symbol alleged infringement by Metrologic’s products that read RSS-14
linear symbols, and did not address whether such products infringe, there is nothing for the
Commission to review.
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correctly concluded that its products that decode multi-row symbols do not infringe the ‘308

patent.

The IA contends that “scan fragment” should be construed to mean “a scan of less than all
of the bar code elements in a given bar code symbol.” The IA argues that the ALJ improperly
construed the limitation with an eye to infringement, and relied on a portion of the specification

that was only a general discussion of “scan fragments,” but did not provide a definition thereof.

In view of the foregoing, we hereby modify the ALJ’s construction of “scan fragment”
only to clarify that his original construction refers to scans that would have been discarded prior
to the development of scan-stitching techniques. Therefore, the Commission construes “scan
fragment” as “a scan that reads less than all of a bar code symbol that would have been discarded

before the advent of scan-stitching techniques.”

Our construction is consistent with the ‘308 patent’s use of the term in its background
section and is consistent with the ordinary meaning of the words “scan” and “fragment.”
Moreover, the construction is consistent with Symbol’s use of the term in its background
discussion portion of its written submission. Specifically, Symbol acknowledges that “scan
fragments” arise when a scanner does not read all the bars and spaces of a bar-code symbol in a

“single scan.” Symbol argues that the distinguishing characteristic of “scan fragments” is that

they do not entirely cross the bar-code symbol. In our view, however, the distinguishing

22 Relevant definitions of “scan” are: “to cause a narrow beam of light to shine through (a
sound track) or to traverse (an object) in order to translate light modulations into a corresponding
electrical current,” Webster’s Third New International Dictionary (1981); or “[a] single line or
traverse of a beam, detector, etc., forming part of a systematic scanning action. Also, an entire

raster,” The New Shorter Oxford English Dictionary (1993).
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characteristic of a “scan fragment” is that they retrieve only a portion (fragment) of the
information being scanned. Because Symbol implicitly acknowledges that a single “scan” occurs
with one sweep of the laser, it defies logic that a “scan” that retrieves all the information it is
possible to retrieve (in the case of multi-row bar code, one entire row) could be a “scan

fragment.”

Clarifying that the ALJ’s construction means “scans that would have been discarded
before the development of scan-stitching techniques” also eliminates Symbol’s and the IA’s
arguments for infringement under the ALJ’s construction. After all, complete scans of rows of
multi-row bar codes were never meant to be discarded. Because such multi-row codes were in
existence at the time the ‘308 patent was filed, it was up to the patent drafters to alert the public
that “scan fragments” could include such complete scans. One way to do this would have been to
use the term “bar-code fragment” in lieu of “scan fragment.” Because the patentees used the
term “scan fragment,” however, the Commission cannot now rewrite the claims in a way that
would cover complete scans of rows of multi-row bar codes.”> The Commission therefore revises
the construction of “scan fragment” to mean *“a scan that reads l;ess than all of a bar code sﬁbol
and that would have been discarded before the advent of scan-stitching techniques.” This
revision has no effect on any of the ALJ’s findings associated with the “scan fragment”
limitation.

Construction of “plurality” in the ‘308 patent

No party objects to the Commission’s review of the ALJ’s implicit construction of the

B See SRAM Corp. v. AD-1I Eng’g, Inc., 465 F.3d 1351, 1359 (Fed. Cir. 2006).
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term “plurality” in the ID. We therefore revise the ALJ’s construction in accordance with its
ordinary meaning, and in accordance with the parties’ agreed-upon construction, of “two or

more.” This revision will have no impact on any of the findings in the ID.
Remedy, the public interest, and bonding

The Commission has “broad discretion in selecting the form, scope and extent of the
remedy.”® A limited exclusion order is the usual remedy when a violation of Section 337 is
found. The statute states that “[i]f the Commission determines, as a result of an investigation
under this section, that there is a violation of this section, it shall direct that the articles
concerned, imported by any person violating the provision of this section, be excluded from entry
into the United States . .. .”? A general exclusion order, conversely, is available only in very
limited circumstances.” Here, the parties agree that a limited exclusion order is the appropriate

remedy in this investigation.

In addition to, or instead of, an exclusion order, the Commission may issue cease-and-
desist orders to respondents violating or believed to be violating Section 337.2 The Commission

generally issues a cease-and-desist order only when a respondent maintains a commercially

* Viscofan, S.A. v. United States Int’l Trade Comm’n, 787 F.2d 544, 548 (Fed. Cir.
1986).

5 19 U.S.C. § 1337(d)(1).
% Id. § 1337(d)(2).
7 Id. § 1337(f)(1).
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significant inventory of infringing products in the United States.”® Here, the private parties have
stipulated that Respondent Metrologic maintains a commercially significant inventory of accused
products.” Furthermore, the IA agrees that a cease-and-desist order is appropriate. The parties’
agreement on this issue is consistent with Metrologic’s discovery responses and the record
evidence in this investigation, both of which indicate that Metrologic maintains a commercially

significant inventory of infringing products in the United States.

The only dispute between the parties concerns whether the limited exclusion order and
cease-and-desist order should be, as Metrologic argues, “narrowly drawn” to specify the specific
products found to infringe. We reject Metrologic’s invitation to deviate from the long-standing
Commission practice of declining to limit exclusion orders to specific models. We note that the
exclusion order contains a certification provision that gives U.S. Customs & Border Protection
the authority to implement a certification procedure before goods would be imported. We feel

that this certification provision is adequate to address Metrologic’s concerns.

Before issuing relief against a respondent, however, the Commission must consider the
effects of such relief on the public health and welfare, competitive conditions in the U.S.
economy, the production of like or directly competitive articles in the United States, and U.S.

consumers.*

% See, e.g., Certain Display Controllers and Products Containing Same, Inv. No. 337-
TA-491/481, Commission Opinion at 66 (Feb. 4, 2005); Certain Integrated Repeaters, Switches,
Transceivers and Products Containing Same, Inv. No. 337-TA-435, Commission Opinion on
Remedy, the Public Interest, and Bonding, at 27, USITC Pub. 3547 (Oct. 2002).

® SeeID at 278.
% 19U.S.C. § 1337(d), (D.
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The parties agree that public-interest factors do not prohibit the contemplated relief. The
products to be excluded are laser bar-code scanners, which do not have any major public health
and welfare implications under the record created here. Thus, the exclusion of Metrologic’s
infringing scanners is unlikely to have any significant impact upon these public-interest
considerations.’ Finally, the public interest favors the protection of U.S. intellectual property
rights by excluding infringing imports.*> The Commission therefore determines that there are no
public-interest concerns that would preclude issuance of a limited exclusion order and cease-and-

desist order in this investigation.

Pursuant to Section 337(j), the accused products are entitled to entry under bond during
the period of Presidential review. To the extent possible, the bond should be an amount that
would be sufficient to protect the complainant from any injury.” The Commission has
considerable discretion in setting an appropriate bond. Here, the parties request a bond rate of
$10 per unit, [ 1.

The Commission determines that $10 per unit is an appropriate bond during the period of

Presidential review.

3! See Certain Compact Multipurpose Tools, Inv. No. 337-TA-416, USITC Pub. No.
3239, Commission Opinion at 9 (September 1999).

32 Certain Two-Handle Centerset Faucets and Escutcheons, and Components Thereof,
Inv. No. 337-TA-422, USITC Pub. No. 3332, Commission Opinion at 9 (July 2000).

3 See 19 C.F.R. § 210.50(a)(3).

3 See Certain Integrated Circuit Telecommunication Chips and Products Containing
Same, Including Dialing Apparatus, Inv. 337-TA-337, Commission Op. at 41 (1995).
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Conclusion

The Commission determines to make the modifications discussed above to the
constructions of claims under review. As discussed, the Commission’s modifications have no
impact on the ALJ’s findings of violation of Section 337. The Commission hereby affirms and
adopts the ID’s findings that are not inconsistent with this opinion. Finally, as discussed above,
the Commission determines to enter a limited exclusion order and cease-and-desist order, issued

herewith, and sets a bond of $10 per unit during the period of Presidential review.

Marilyn R. géott

Secretary to the Commission

By Order of the Commission.

Issued: June 14, 2007
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UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C.

In the Matter of

CERTAIN LASER BAR CODE SCANNERS AND
SCAN ENGINES, COMPONENTS THEREOF AND
PRODUCTS CONTAINING SAME

Inv. Ne. 337-TA-551

NOTICE REGARDING ISSUANCE OF INITIAL DETERMINATION AND
RECOMMENDED DETERMINATION ON REMEDY AND BOND

(January 29, 2007)

On January 29, 2007, the administrative law judge filed an Initial Determination and a
Recommended Determination on Remedy and Bond in the above-referenced investigation. Attached
are pages 1-2 and 273-276 from said filing, which are a matter of public record. A complete public
version of the Initial Determination and Recommended Determination on Remedy and Bond will
be issued when all the parties have submitted their redactions and the undersigned has had an

opportunity to review the redactions.
)
»

Charles E. Bullock
Administrative Law Judge






PUBLIC VERSION
UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C.

In the Matter of

CERTAIN LASER BAR CODE SCANNERS AND
SCAN ENGINES, COMPONENTS THEREOF AND
PRODUCTS CONTAINING SAME

Inv. No. 337-TA-551

INITIAL DETERMINATION ON VIOLATION OF SECTION 337 AND
RECOMMENDED DETERMINATION ON REMEDY AND BOND

Administrative Law Judge Charles E. Bullock
(January 29, 2007)

Pursuant to the Notice of Investigation' and Rule 210.42(a) of the Rules of Practice and
Procedure of the United States International Trade Commission, this is the Administrative Law
Judge’s Initial Determination in the matter of Certain Laser Bar Code Scanners and Scan Engines,
Components Thereof, and Products Containing Same, Investigation No. 337-TA-551.

The Administrative Law Judge hereby determines that a violation of Section 337 of the Tariff
Act of 1930, as amended has been found in the importation into the United States, the sale for
importation, or the sale within the United States after importation of certain laser bar code scanners
and scan engines, components thereof, and products containing same, in connection with claim 48
of U.S. Patent No. 5,262,627; and claims 17 and 18 of U.S. Patent No. 5,917,173; and has not been

found in connection with claims 7, 8, 11, 13, 14, 17, and 18 of U.S. Patent No. 5,545,889; and claims

'70 Fed. Reg. 61,841 (October 26, 2005).
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2,10, 11, and 21 of U.S. Patent No. 5,457,308. Furthermore, the Administrative Law Judge hereby
determines that a domestic industry in the United States exists that practices U.S. Patent Nos.

5,262,627 and 5,917,173 and does not exist that practices U.S. Patent Nos. 5,545,889 and 5,457,308.



CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

The Commission has subject matter jurisdiction in this investigation.
The Commission has personal jurisdiction over Metrologic.

THE ‘173 PATENT
Metrologic’s accused products infringe claims 17 and 18 of U.S. Patent No. 5,917,173 in
violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a).
An industry in the United States exists with respect to Symbol’s products that is protected
by claim 17 of U.S. Patent No. 5,917,173, as required by 19 U.S.C. § 1337(a)(2) and (3).
Claims 17 and 18 of U.S. Patent No. 5,917,173 are not invalid under 35 U.S.C. § 102 for
anticipation based on any of the following references:
a. U.S. Patent No. 4,632,501; and
b. U.S. Patent No. 4,732,440.
Claims 17 and 18 of U.S. Patent No. 5,917,173 are not invalid under 35 U.S.C. § 103 for
single-reference obviousness based on the following references:
a. U.S. Patent No. 4,632,501; and
b. U.S. Patent No. 4,732,440.
Claims 17 and 18 of U.S. Patent No. 5,917,173 are not invalid under 35 U.S.C. § 112,91
for lack of written description/enablement.

THE ‘627 PATENT
Metrologic’s accused products infringe claim 48 of U.S. Patent No. 5,262,627 in violation
of 35 US.C. § 271(a).

An industry in the United States exists with respect to Symbol’s products that is pfotected
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10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

by claim 48 of U.S. Patent No. 5,262,627, as required by 19 U.S.C. § 1337(a)(2) and (3).
Claim 48 of U.S. Patent No. 5,262,627 is not invalid under 35 U.S.C. § 102 for anticipation
based on any of the following references:
a. U.S. Patent No. 4,632,501; and
b. U.S. Patent No. 4,732,440.
Claim 48 of U.S. Patent No. 5,262,627 is not invalid under 35 U.S.C. § 103 for single-
reference obviousness based on the following references:
a. U.S. Patent No. 4,632,501; and
b. U.S. Patent No. 4,732,440.
Claim 48 of U.S. Patent No. 5,262,627 is not invalid under 35 U.S.C. § 112, § 1 for lack of
written description/enablement.

THE ‘889 PATENT
Metrologic’s accused products do not infringe claims 7, 8, 11, 13, and 14 of U.S. Patent No.
5,545,889 in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a).
Metrologic’s accused products infringe claim 18 of U.S. Patent No. 5,545,889 in violation
of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a).
An industry in the United States does not exist with respect to Symbol’s products that is
protected by claims 7 and 8 of U.S. Patent No. 5,545,889, as required by 19 U.S.C. §
1337(a)(2) and (3).
Claims 7, 11, 13 and 14 of U.S. Patent No. 5,545,889 are not invalid under 35 U.S.C. § 102
for anticipation based on U.S. Patent No. 4,409,470.

Claims 7, 11, 13, and 14 of U.S. Patent No. 5,545,889 are not invalid under 35 U.S.C. § 102
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18.

19.

20.

21.
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23.

24.

25.

for anticipation based on U.S. Patent No. 4, 971,410.
Claims 8 and 18 of U.S. Patent No. 5,545,889 are not invalid under 35 U.S.C. § 103 for
single-reference obviousness based on U.S. Patent No. 4,409,470.
Claim 18 of U.S. Patent No. 5,545,889 is not invalid under 35 U.S.C. § 103 for single-
reference obviousness based on U.S. Patent No. 4, 971,410.
Claims 7,8,11, 13, 14, and 18 of U.S. Patent No. 5,545,889 are not invalid under 35 U.S.C.
§ 103 for single-reference obviousness based on the MH-132/MS131 Products or SS-100
Product, or for obviousness based on the MH-132/MS131 Products in combination with its
SS-100 product.
Claims 7,8, 11, 13, 14, and 18 of U.S. Patent No. 5,545,889 are not invalid under 35 U.S.C.
§ 112, § 2 for indefiniteness.
Claim 17 of U.S. Patent No. 5,545,889 is invalid under 35 U.S.C. § 112, § 2 for
indefiniteness.

THE ‘308 PATENT
Metrologic’s accused products do not infringe claims 2, 10, 11, and 21 of U.S. Patent No.
5,457,308 in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a).
An industry in the United States does not exist with respect to Symbol’s products that is
protected by claims 2, 10, 11, and 21 of U.S. Patent No. 5,457,308, as required by 19 U.S.C.
§ 1337(a)(2) and (3).
U.S. Patent No. 5,457,308 is not unenforceable by reason of equitable estoppel in

connection with Symbol’s conduct before AIM.
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INITIAL DETERMINATION

Based on the foregoing opinion, findings of fact, conclusions of law, the evidence, and the
record as a whole, and having considered all pleadings and arguments, including the proposed
findings of fact and conclusions of law, it is the Administrative Law Judge’s Initial Determination
that a violation of Section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended, has been found in the
importation into the United States, the sale for importation, or the sale within the United States after
importation of certain laser bar code scanners and scan engines, components thereof, and products
containing same, in connection with claim 48 of U.S. Patent No. 5,262,627; and claims 17 and 18
of U.S. Patent No. 5,917,173; and has not been found in connection with claims 7, 8, 11, 13, 14,
17,and 18 of U.S. Patent No. 5,545,889; and claims 2, 10, 11, and 21 of U.S. Patent No. 5,457,308.
Furthermore, the Administrative Law Judge hereby determines that a domestic industry in the
United Stétes exists that practices U.S. Patent Nos. 5,262,627 and 5,917,173 and does not exis<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>